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31 December 2018

Strategic report

Principal activities

The principle activity of 8GO Corporation Limited (the ‘Company”) is the provision of corporate governance to all
its subsidiaries (the *‘Group*) and the issuance of policies and procedures, as well as the formulation of specific plans
in areas such as strategic planning, corporate communications, tax, legal and financial matters. The Company incurs
costs which are billed to fellow group companies.

Review of business and outlook

SGO Corporation Limited’s total consolidated revenue for 2018 reached to US$119 million (2017; US$90 million),
primarily generated from its subsidiaries in USA, Netherlands, and Philippines. The Smartmatic brand, which sells
election products and services, constituted the main source of these revenues. The consolidated revenue for 2018
increased by $29 million from 2017. The main cause of increase came from the provision of electoral services, in
particular, the new contract with Los Angeles County in the USA. Also, there were increased sales of equipment and
transmission services in Philippines.

Total costs of sales amounted to US$68 million (2017: US$92 million) resulting in a total gross profit of US$5 Imitlion
(2017: gross loss of US$2 million). Total loss after tax for the Group amounted to US$11 million (2017: loss after tax
of US$52 million). This was caused by the delay of certain projects in Europe and other locations, the impact of the
devaluation on assets held in Venezuela and impairments to accounts receivable.

As at 31 December 2018 the Group has consolidated current assets of US$139 million (2017: US$128 million) and
net assets of (JS$117 million (2017: US$ 127 million).

The 2019 financial cutlook shows increased revenues, driven by increased electoral activity teking place in the
marketplace. Primarily this will occur in the USA, Brazil and Argentina. There are also expected to be opportunities
in other Latin American countries and in some European countries, such ag Bulgaria and Denmark. New opportunities
in other business lines are being pursued to help sustain the revenue growth in future years,

Review of operations
The Group has presence in 27 countries, with major operations in USA, Netherlands and the Philippines.

During 2018, the Group opened new operations in El Saivador, Bolivia, and Australia and completed some new
projects in USA, Belgium, and El Salvador. The Group improved its operation in USA, Latin America and Asia
Pacific to be able to compete widely in that electoral market in those regions. Also during 2018, the Group continued
to invest in new lines of businesses to enhance new business opportunitics and in the other start-ups: Infuser, Airlabs,
Social Hunt and Folio. Smartmatic delivers technology to clients in key areas:

¢ Electronic and auditable voting systems
+ Internet voting
+ Intelligent and integrated security systems
¢ Identity registration and authentication of large population groups
«  Public transportation systems
e  Technology research and development, and consulting
¢ Deployment systems
The Group has investments in:
¢ Social Hunt: social media voting
+ Folia: Digital identity
+  Airlabs: Air polfution cleaning technologies for consumers and cities

« Infuser: Air poilution cleaning technologies for the industrial sector
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Strategic report (continued)

Risks

The Company Directors review the capital structure of the Group on a regular basis and consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group faces currency and credit risks as it operates in countries with high inflation and others with currency
restrictions. The Directors are also aware of the risks involved in taking on large long term projects and so mitigate
these with careful management and maintaining high level management information to ensure thet risks are identified
and mitigated on a project by project basis.

Financial instruments

The financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources, and various items, such as trade receivables
and trade payables that arise directly from its operations, The Group’s cperations expose it fo a variety of financial
risks including market price risk, foreign exchange risk end credit risk and liquidity risk. Overall responsibility for the
management of these risks is vested with management who monitor them on an ongoiag basis.

Market price risk - the Group co-ordinates the handling of foreign exchange risk by creating natural hedges wherever
possible.

Credit risk - the Group’s client base is predominantly government authorities and the historical incidence of default is
very low.

Liguidity risk — the Group maintains sufficient liquid assets ensuring dehtors and creditors are actively monitored.
There is an arrangement in place for funding from one of the Holding Companies (Smartmatic International Holding
B.V.), if required.

Foreign exchange risk — the Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies and consequently is
exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters,

Key Performance Indicators

The Group uses 2 range of key performance indicators (KP1s) to monitor performance and progress towards strategic
objectives. The principal financial KPIs include year on year analysis of revenue, gross profit, EBITDA. and profit for
the year. The non-financial KPlIs for the group include headcount, customer base growth, development and deployment
of new or enhanced technologies, and diversification of products and services provided,

By order of the board

Antonio Joge Muglez Rivero 88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, W1U 6TQ

Director
1L Tune2019
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Directors’ report
The Board of Directors pregent their directors’ report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018,

Dividend

The directors have declared and paid a final ordinary dividend in respect of the current financial year of US$ nil (20117:
$ nil).

Directors

The directors who held office during the year were as follows:
Antonic Jose Mugica Rivero

Roger Alejandro Pifiate Martinez

Sir Nigel Graham Knowles
Lord George Mark Malloch-Brown

Political Donations
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any political donations during the year (2017: USS nil),

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware; and each director has taken
all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deerred to be reappointed and KPMG LLP
will therefore continue in office.

By order of the board

Antonia Jose Muglca Rivero 88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, W1U 6TQ

Director
I 'L June 2019
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare gronp and parent company financial statements for each financial year,
Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law and have
elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Rediced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial staternents unless they are satisfied that they give 2
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that peried. In
preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

«  for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the EU;

* for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and

s use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have peneral responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.




Independent auditor’s report to the members of SGO Corporation Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of SGO Corporation Limited (“the company™) for the year ended 31
December 2018 which comprise the consolidated income statements, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated and company balance sheet, consolidated and company statement of changes in equity,
consolidated cash flow statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our ¢pinion:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2018 and of the group's loss for the year then ended;

s the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union;

» the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards, incliding FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

¢ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)Y") and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent
of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriste basis for our opinion.

The impact of uncertaintles due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit

Uincertainties related to the effects of Brexit are relevant to understanding our audit of the financial statements. All
audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors, such as recoverability of receivables
and related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements.
All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the group’s future prospects and
performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its effects are subject
to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown. We applied a
stendardised firm-wide approach in response to that uncertainty when assessing the group’s future prospects and
performance. However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future
implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial staternents on the going concern basis ag they do not intend to liquidate the
group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the group and the company's
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at feast a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis
for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’
conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’s business model, including the impact of Brexit, and
analysed how those risks might affect the group and company's financial resources or ability to continue operations
over the going concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.




Independent auditor’s report to the members of SGO Corporation Limited {continued)

Golng concern (continued}

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in cutcomes that
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a
material uncertsinty in this auditor's report is not & guarantee that the group or the company will continue in operation.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors” report and, in deing so, consider whether, based on
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

+  woe have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

e in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

s  in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Cotnpanies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our sudit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

«  the parent company financial staternents are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
e  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 6, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisficd that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the group and parent company’s ability to continue as & going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit condueted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of SGO Corporation Limited (continued)

Avuditor’s responsibilities (continued)

A fuller description of our respomsibiliies is provided on the FRCs website at
www.fre.org. uk/auditossresponsibilities.

The purpaose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no ather purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

o fot

Robert Seale (Senlor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

'Z-June 2019



Consolidated Income Statement
Jor pear ended 31 December 2018

Revenue
Cost of sales

Groas profit/(loss)

Operating expenses

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Other income

Other expenses

Foreign exchange rate loss

Operating loss
Financial income

Financial expenses
Foreipgn exchange (loss)/gain

Net financing income

Share of profit of joint venture

Lozs before tax
Taxation

Loss for the year

Attributable to;
Equity holders of the parent
Non-conteolling interest

Laoss for the year

The notes on pages 16 to 53 form an integral portion of these financial statements

Note

aa@

to to

i4

8GO Corporstion Litnited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

2018 2017
LIS$000 US$000
119,227 90,459
(67,802) (92,299)

51,425 (1,340}
(46,960) (50,886)
5,248 -
563 3,832
9,987) (2,698)
(6,124) (1,829)
(5,835) (53421)

1,329 1,660

(783} (492)

(122) 32

424 1,200
(5,411) (52,221}
(5,643) 143

(11,054) (52,078)
(10,900) (51,746)

(154) (332)

(11,054) (52,078)

10



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Jor year ended 31 December 2018

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Itemns that are or may be recycled sibseguently to profit or loss:
Foreign cumrency (ranslation differences

Attributrble to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest

The notes on pages 16 to 53 form an integral portion of these financial statements

$GO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910

31 December 2018

2018 2017
US$000 US$000
(11,054) (52,078)

674 956
(10,380) (51,122)
(11,537) (50,790)

1,157 332)
(10,380) (51,122

11




Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2018

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
[nvestment in equity-accounted investees
Investment in joint ventures
COther receivables
Deferred tax assets

Current assety
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets held for sale

Total assets

Current labilities
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Total liabilities

Net assets

Note

16
i7
18

19

20

23

24

15

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

2018

2017

USS000 US$000
7,972 9,476
11,145 8,602
5,007 4,903
5,186 5,080
583 6,435
29,893 34,496
2,818 2,185
64,345 38,093
72,100 70,390
- 17,605
139,263 128,273
168,156 162,769
870 7,685
40,338 19,158
6,589 691
2,498 972
1,214 3,306
51,509 31,812
1 2,250

541 1,222
542 3,472
52,051 35284
117,108 127,485

12



Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital
Share premium
Share based payment reserves
Translation reserves
Retained eamings

Non-controlling interest

Total equity

SGO Corporation Limiled
Registration number 07477210
31 December 2018

Note

2018 2017

US$000 Ussoco

25 - -
12,255 12,255

16,879 16,879
62,117 (61,398)

148,240 159,058

1,848 691

117,105 127,485

The notes on pages 16 to 53 form an integral portion of these financial statements

These financial statements were spproved by the board of directors on 1L june 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Antonfo José Muglea Rivers
Director

Company registration number 07477210

i3

|
l
|



Conselidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at 31 December 2016

Total comprehensive income

Loss for the year
Foreign currency mauslatioo differences

Total comprehensive incame for the period
Equity-settled abare based payment transactions

Balance at 31 December 2617

Tolal comprehensive Income
Loss for the year

Foreign currency translanon difterences
Total comprehensive income for the period
Equity-settled share based payment trangactions

Balance at 31 December 2018

The notes on pages 16 to 53 form an integral pertion of these financial staternents

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 Decernber 2018

Share based Non-

Share Share  Translation payments Retained  Total paremt controliing Total
capltal preminm reserve Tesirve ecarnings tyuity interest equity
USS000 LUSs000 USsSo00 UsSsono USS000 US$000 Ussosd USS000

- 12,255 (61,542) 16,524 209,993 177,230 1,022 178,252
. R - - (51,746) (51,746) (332) (5,078)
- - 144 - 811 955 1 956
- - 144 - (50,93%5) (50,791) {331 {51,122)
- - - 355 - 355 - 355
- 12,255 (51,398) 16879 159,058 126,794 691 127,485
R - . - (10,500) (10,500) (154) {11,054)
- - 719 R 82 (637) 1311 674
- - a9 - (16,818) 1,537y 1,157 (10,380)
- 12,288 (62,117) 16,879 48,240 115257 1,848 117,105




SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910

31 December 2018
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Jor year ended 31 December 2018
Nate
2018 2017
USS000 US$000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year (11,054) {52,078)
Adjustments for: :
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 5 2,297 2,621
Bad debts allowance 5! 1,711 3,710
Unrealised foreign exchange movements 3,866 (2,641)
Reversal of bad debts allowance 5 (222) gl)]
Loss on translation of deferred tax assets 15 32 16
Equity settted share-based payment expenses 22 - 355
Taxation g 5,643 (143)
Finance income & (1,329) {1,660)
Finance expense 8 783 492
Movement in trade and other receivables i7 (26,358) 92,708
Movement in inventories 16 {633) 4,397
Movement in trade and other payables 21 21,180 (155)
Movement in provision 24 (2,092) (7,064)
Movement in deferred revenue 23 5,898 (2,768)
Interest paid 8 (583) (492)
Tax paid (5,047) (3,463)
Net cash from operating activities (5,908) 33,765
Cash flows fram investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,519 -
Proceeds from sale of other intangible agsets 1,607 ! -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10 (389) (270)
Acquisition of other intangible assels I (5,444) (3.531)
Tncrease in investment in subsidiary (£04) - X
Interest received 8 320 345 .
Decrease in assets held for sale 17,605 -
Net cash from Investing sctivities 15,114 (3,456)
Cash flows from financing actlvities ;
Issue of new debt 20 - 7,000
Repayment of borrowings 20 (7,496} (670) :
Repayment of promissory noles 20 . {689) i
g
Net cash from financing activities '(7,496) 5,641
|
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1,710 35,950 |
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 18 70,390 34,440 !
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18 72,100 70,320

The notes on pages 15 to 53 form an integral portion of these financial statements
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SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Uforming part of the fingncial statenents)

1 Accounting policies

L1 Basis of preparation

$GO Corporation Limited (the *Company’) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. SGO Corporation Limited’s
registered office is 88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, W1U 6TQ. The registered number is 07477910,

The group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2018. This privately owned multinational group designs and deploys end-to-end custom technology
salutions to enable govemment agencies and large enterprises to fdfil their missions.

The group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs™).

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements.

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 2.

1.2 Measureitent converition

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain assets and liabilitics that are stated at their fair
value, as explained in the accounting polices below.

The Venczuelan subsidiaries Tecnologia Smartmatic de Venezuela, C.A., Integradora Venezolana de Tecnologia y
Automatizaciones and Smartmatic Labs, C.A. reported their financial statements in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy
up to March 2018, In accordance with TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationery Economies, the financial statements of
those subsidiaries were restated by applying a general price index and translated at closing rates (DICOM) before they were
included in the consolidated financia) statements. From April 2018 the functiona! currency was of these companiss was changed
to US dollars.

1.3 Going concern

Having reviewed the Group's current trading and forecasts, together with sensitivities and mitigating factors and the available
facilities, the Board has reasonable expectations that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foresccable future. Accordingly, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

L4 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable retumns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through ils power over the invesiec. The acquisition
date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that coniro) Losses applicable to the
non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated fo the non-controlling interests even if doing s0 causes the non-controlling

interests to have a deficit balance,

Jainr Operations

The Group has applied IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements as of | January 2014. The Group identifies joint arrangements as those
armangements in which two or more parties have joint control, where joint control is evidenced by the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists where the decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor.

Joint operations are identified as thost agreements whereby the parfics have righs io the assets and obligations for liabilitics relating
to the arrangement. Joint operations are accounted for by recognising the operator’s relevant share of assets, ligbilities, revenues
and expenses.

16



$GO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policles (continued)

1.4 Basis of consolidation (conthned)

Joint ventures are identified as those agreements whereby the: parties have righis to the net assets of the arrangement and are
accounted for using equity accounting in accordance with IAS 28. Interest in joint ventures ere initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thercafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-scquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive
income. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venhire equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes
any long-term interests that form part of the Group's net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it kas incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arraagements and determined them to be joint operations. The Group's share of the
assels, liabilities, income and expenses of jointly controlied entities is combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated
financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Associates

Assaciates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies.
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group has the power to participate in an entity’s financial and operating policy
decisions, but it is not in control or hold jeint controf of those policies.

Application of the equity method fo associates

Associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are initiatly recognised at cost, The Group’s
investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the total comprehensive income and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from
the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group's share of losses
exceeds its interest in An equity accounted invesiee, the Group’s carying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behetf of an
investee.

LS Foreign currency

Transactions in foreigh currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group enlities at the foreign exchange
rale ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date
are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that datc. Foreign exchange differences arising on
translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign cumency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign cutrencies that are stated at fair value are retransiated to the functional currency at foreign exchangs rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Gains and losses on translation arising from the group operations are recorded
within operating profits, those which arise from the group financial structure have been recorded as & gain or [oss within the group’s
net financing income and expenses.

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the translation reserve or non-controlling interest, as the case may be. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such
that confrol, joint conmel or significant influence {as the case may be) is lost, the entire accumulated amount in the translation
reserve, net of amounts previously attributed to non-controlling interests, is recycled to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on

disposal.

When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while still retaining control,
the relevant proportion of the accumulated amount is reattribuied to non-controlling inferests. When the Group disposes of only
part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while still retaining significant influence or
joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is recycled to profit or loss,

On 9 March 2017, the National Government and the BCV, entered into Exchange Agreement N° 35, which establishes the new
provisions that will regulate the operations of the foreign currency regime. Such agreement will be effective as of 10 March 2017,
11 eliminates SICAD and SIMADT and creates a dual exchange system that will consist of two new exchange rates for the purchase
or sate of foreign currencies (8) The protected exchange rate (DIPRO, for its Spanish acronyrn) and (b} The market’s supplementary
floating exchange rate (DICOM, for its Spanish acronym). Dipro’s exchange rate was fixed in 9,975 VEB per USDS$1 for the
purchase and 10 VEB per USD$1 for the sale. Dicom's exchange rate began at 215 VEB per USD$1 (SIMADI’s exchange rate
at 10 March 2017). SIMADI will continued functioning until substitution within a maximum term of 30 days. Until then, Dicoms
exchange rate was the same as SIMADI's exchange rate published by the Central Bank of Venezuela on & daily basis. As the
Compeny operations were not covered by Exchange Agreement N° 35, it will be processed through altemative foreign currency
markets regulated by the exchanges laws, at Dicom's exchange rate, At 31 December 2017, SIMADI’s (DICOM'S) exchange rate
was 674 VEB per US§! end the average rate across the year was 672 VEB.
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15 Foreign currency (continued)

Venezuela conlinues to be a hyperinflationary economy for the year eading 31 December 2018, The Centrat Bank of Venezuela
has not published official inflation data since 201 5. However, private sector estimates and reports indicate an accelerating rate of
inflation and the IMF projects and inflation 1ate of 1,133% for the year ending 31 December 2018. DICOM's exchange rate was
3,345 VEF per USS$1.

The assets and liabilitics of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are transiated
to the Group’s presentationai currency (USD) at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses
of foreign aperations are translated at an average rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions.

When the functional currency of a forcign operation is the currency of a hyperinfiationary econcmy, all asscts, lisbilities, equity
items, income and expenses are transiated using an official exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumuiated in equity (atiributed to non-controlling
interesis as appropriate).

At the date of presentation of the financial statements at 31 December 2018 and for the year then ended, no official information
relating to the National Consumer Price Index (“NCPI*) from January to December was available, as they have not been published
by the BCV. Therefore, the NCPI at 31 December 2018 and from January to November 2018, used by lhe Company following the
guidelines established in communications issued by the Venezuelan Federation of Public Accountants (FCCPV), have been
determined by external and independent professionals of the Company, who are in charge of updating the information on a monthly
basis based on the same methodology. Regarding the official 2018 NCPI the BCV might publish in the future, the irapact of this
estimate on the Company's financial statements at 31 December 2018 and for the year then ended is not expected to be significant
and should any difference arise, they will be corrected in the financial statements of the next economic period. Below are the
monthly index used and also the monthly and yearly variance.

NCPI
Index Monthly variance
2018
March 238,010 30%
February 183,085 30%
January 140,834 30%
16 Classification of financinl instruments issned by the Group

Policy effective from period beginning I Jannary 2018
[4)] Recoguition and iititlal measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All vther financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset {unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, ransaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

(tiy Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assels
(@} Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: emortised cost; FYOC] — debt investinent; FVOCI - equity
investment; or FYTPL,

Financigl assels are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for
managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period
following the change in the business model. :

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:
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1§ Classification of financial instriments issned by the Group (continyed)

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

- iis contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash fows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
finencial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

Al financial assels not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are incasured at FVTPL. This includes
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FYTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Investments in joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment or accounted for using the equity
method.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and czll deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of
the cash flow statement.

(b) Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets ai FVTPL - these assets (other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are subsequently measured at
fair value. Net gains and {ossés, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profil or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost - These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange pains and losses and impairment are
recogmised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI - these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gaing and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI, On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified ta profit or loss.

Egquily investments at FVOCT - these asseis are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents & recovery of part of the cost of the investment, Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity oniy to the extent thal they meet the following two conditions:

(a) they include no contractua! obligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financizl
assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentiaily unfavourable to the company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company®s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that
includes no obfigation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will
be seitled by the corapany’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own
equity insiruments.
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L6 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group (continued)

To the extenl that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so
classified takes the legal form of the company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for cailed up share
capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is
classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
meagured at fair value and vet gains and lesses, including any interest expense, arc recognised in profit or loss, Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methad. Interest expense and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
Intra-group financial instruments

Where the company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebledness of other companies within its group,
the company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the company treats the
guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the company will be required to make a
payment under the guarantee,

{iii) Impafrment

The company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses {(ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt
investments measured at FVQOCI and contract assets (as defined in IFRS 135).

The corpany measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for ather debt securitics &nd bank balances for
which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, which are measured as i2-month ECL.

Loss silowances for trade receivables and contract assets #rc always measured al an smount equal to lifetime ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of e financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the company considers reascnable and supportable information that is retevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative informaticn and analysis, based on the company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of 8 financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the company is exposed
to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the company expects
to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at FVCC1 are
credii-impaired, A financial asset is *credit-impaired’ when one or more ¢vents that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assel have occurred.

Write-offs

The gross carrying amount of a financisl asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery.
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L7 Classification of financial insiruments Issued by the Group — policy up to 31 December 2017

Following the adoption of TAS 32, {inancial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet
the following two conditions:

(<) they include no contractual obligations upon the company (or group as the case may be) to deliver cash or other financial
assets or 1o exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially

unfavourable to the company (or group); and

(d) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that
includes ro obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own equity instraments or is a derivative that will
be settled by the company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own
equity instruments.

To the exient that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability, Where the instrument so
classified takes the legat form of the company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called up share
capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation 10 those shares.

Where & financial instrument that contains both equity and financial liability components exists these components are separated
and accounted for individually under the above policy.

Derecagnition of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for the amount it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the rizks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the Group's
aobligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured al amortised cost less
any provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits, Bank overdrafls that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are inciuded as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of
the cash flow statement.

Available for sale financlal assets

Avnilable for sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such or do not qualify for
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. Investments are recorded at cost. Any other financial assets within this
calegory are measured subsequently at fair value, with changes in value recognised in equity, through other comprehensive income.
Gains and losses arising from investments classified as available for sale are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when they are sold or when the investment is impaired. In the case of impairment of available for sale
assets, any loss previously recognised in equity is transferred to the consolidated stalement of comprehiensive income. Impairment
{osses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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L7 Cinssification of financial instruments issued by the Group — policy up to 31 December 2017 (continued)
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual amangements entered into,
Equity instroments .
An equity instrumend is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assels of the Group after deducting ali of its {iabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The costs of an equity transaciion are accounied for as a deduction from equily to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction that would otherwise have been avoided.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipmenl are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment fosses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different uscful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment.

Leages in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assel are classified as finance
leases, Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are staled at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present

value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impairment
losses. Lease payments are accounted for as described below.

Depreciation is chiarged to the fucome statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated usefud tives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment, Land and assets under construction are not depreciated, The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Commercial office units and improvements 30 years
Equipment 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years
Fumiture and fittings 3 -10 years
Vehicleg 3«5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at cach balance sheet date,
L9 Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in & change of control are accounted for as transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised 25 a result of such transactions. The adjustments
to non-controlling interests are based on & propostionate emount of the net assets of the subsidiary. Any difference between the
price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted is recognised directly in equity and sitributed
to the owners of the parent.

Prior to the adoption of IAS 27 (2008), goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary,
which represented the excess of the cost of ti¢ additional investment over (he carrying amount of the interest in the net assels
acquired at the date of the transaction.

L.10 Intangible assets
Intangible agsets with finite useful lives that are acquired scparately are carried at cost less accummlated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses.

Where the Group has been developing new product lines the costs of the software to deliver these have been capitalised once it has
met the requirements as per IAS 38. It will then start to be amortised from the period the product is ready for use.

Software which is not integral to a related item of hardware are also recognised as intangible assets. Capitalised internal-use
software include external direct costs of materials and services consurned in the development or purchase, use of dedicated
contractors, and payroll and related costs for employees who are directly associated with or who dovote substantial time to the
project. Capitalisation of these costs ceases when the project is substantially complete and ready for its internal purpose. These
casts are amortised over their expected useful life decmed to be three to five years once the asset is put into use.

Amortisation is recognised on a streight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and emortisation
method are reviewed et the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changss in estimate being accounted foron a
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prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives thal are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, The policies applied to the Group's Intangible assets are summarised as folows:

+  Acquired Anoto IP — Straight line basis with 8 maximum life of 4 years, with no residual value.

L Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable vatue, Cosl is based on the weighted average principle and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or convession costs and other costs in bringing them to their existing
location and condition. Obsolete, defective or slow-moving inventories have been written down 1o estimated net realisable value.
The recoverable amount of inventory is calculated based on inventory age and turnover,

1i2 ITmpairment exciuding inventories and deferred tax assets
Financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
ohjective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
{hat can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is ealculated as the difference between its carrying
amount and the present vafue of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Interest
on the impaired asset confinues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent evemt causes the
amount of impairment loss to decrense, (he decrease in impairment loss s reversed through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-fingncial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date te determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. For goadwill, and inlangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated ¢ach year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-gencrating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating wnit™), The
goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the puspose of impaimment testing, i¢ allocated to cash-generating units, or
("CGU"). Subject to an operating segment ceiling tesi, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwitl
has been aliocated are aggregated so that the level al which impairment is tested reflects the [owest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an assel or its CGU exceeds ils estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recagnised in respect of CGUs are aliocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit
(group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the Joss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment toss is reversed
if there has been a change in the estimates uged to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairtent [oss had been recognised.

113 Entployee benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay fusther amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income staternent in the periods during which services are rendered by employess,
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Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under shori-term cash bonus or incentive plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive cbligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employce and the obligation
can be estimated reliably,

Share-based pavment iransactions

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as cousideration for its own equity instruments
are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardiess of how the equity instruments ere obtained by the
Group.

The grant date fair value of share-based payment swards granted i@ employees is recognised as an employee expensc, with &
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of
the options granted is measured using an option valuation mode), taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 10 reflect the actual number of awards for which the refated service
and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the
number of awards that do meel the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment
awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and
there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

‘Where the Company’s parent gran!s rights io its equity instruments fo the Group's or the Cornpany’s employees, which sre accounted
for as equity-settled in the consolidated accounts of the parent, the Group or the Company as the case may be account for these share-
based payments as equity-settled.

114 Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive cbligation as a result of a past
event, that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected Future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle & provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, & receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the recejvable can be
measured relisbly.

Present abligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considerad
to exist where the Group has a contract under witich the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognised at the date of sale of
the relevant products, at the management best estimate of lhe expenditure required to scttle the Group’s obligation.

L1s Pre-caontract costs

Where the group incurs significant costs related to & contract before the contract commences these are recognised within receivables
as pre contract costs. Such costs are only capitalised if they are necessary to both render and improve the future service to the
cfient and relating lo fiture activity on the contract. These costs are then expensed through the income staterment over the life of
the contract that these costs relate to.

LI6 Revenue

The Group recognises revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
congideration lo which the enlity expects (0 be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. In accordance with IFRS 15 the
company recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control® of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred fo the customer.

The Group recognises revenuc from the following major sources:
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Provision of services

Revenue from a coniract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of
completion of the coniract is determined as follows:
¢ Fees ar¢ recognised by reference to the stage of completion, determined as the proportion of the total lime expected 1o
install that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period,;

=  Servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of
providing the servicing for the product sold; and
Sale of goods and equipment

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all of the following

conditions are satisfied: )
¢ The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods;

+  The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement lo the degree usually associated with ownership, not
effective control aver goods sold;

#  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e [tisprobable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

+  The costs incurred, or 1o be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured refiably,
Revenue from both the sale of goods, and the provision of services, is recognised over time to the extent that:

+  The customer simultanecusly receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity's performance as the entity
performs, and another entily would not necd to substantially re-perform the work that the entity has completed to date

(routine or recurring services),

s The entity's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed te date (building a specialised asset that only the customer can use, or
building an asset to a customer order).

If the above criteria are niot considered to be met, then the Group recognises revenue at the point in time of which the transfer of
control is transferred to the customer.

LI17 Expenses

Operating lease pdyments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease,
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the tota! lease expense.

Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability, The finance [
charge is allocated to each period during the lease lerm 5o s to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance i
of the liability. ;

Financing income and expenses

Financing expenses cornprise interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and finance leases recognised in
profit or loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are
recognised in the income statement (se¢ foreign currency accounting policy). Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
scquisition, constriclion or production of an asset that takes a substantial time to be prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Financing income comprise interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, and net foreign exchange

gains.
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Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest methed, Dividend
income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s right lo receive payments is established. Foreign currency
gains and losscs are reporied on a net basis,

Reseurch and develapment

Research is expense as the costs are incurred. Where the expenditure reaches the requirements for IAS 38 for development the
amounls ere capitalised as an intangible asset.

1.18 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in (k¢ income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted st the balance shee! date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferrved tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for taxation purposes, The following temporary differences 2re not provided for: the initial recognition of
goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or Liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differences relating fo investments in subsidiaries lo the extent thet they will probably not reverse in the foresecable
future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected maaner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted et the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be wtilised.

L1 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a group of assets containing a non-current asset {a disposal group) is classified as held for sale if its carrying
amount will be recovered principally through sale rather than through contittiing use, it is available for immediate sale and sale is
highly probable within one year,

On initia] classification as held for sale, non-cument assets and disposal groups are measured at the lower of previous camying amoynt
and fair value less costs 1o sell with any adjusiments taken to profit or loss. The same applies 1o gains and losses on subsequent re-
measurement although gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss, Any impairment loss on a disposal group
first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories,
financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefil assets and investment property, which continuie to be measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies. Infangible assets and praperty, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale or distribution
are not amortised or depreciated.

A discontinued operation is 2 component of the Group’s business that represents a separale major line of business or geographical area
of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification
as a discontinued opexation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meels the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if carlier.
When an operation is classified &s a discontinued operalion, the comparative income statement is restated as if the operation has
been discontinued from the start of the compareative period.
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i Accounting policies (continued)

120 Adopted IFRS not yet applied

The following Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. Their adoption
is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated:

® IFRS 16 Leases (¢ffective date 1 January 2019),

& JFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective date to be confirmed).

®* Amendments to TAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective date to be confirmed).

®  Amendments to References to the Conceplual Framework in TFRS Standards (effective date to be confirmed),

&  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle {effective date to be confirmed).

¢ The Directors are considering the impact of these newly issued standards upon the results of the Group.

IFRS 16

The Group is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. The Group has assessed the estimated impact that initial
application of IFRS 6 will have on its consolidated financial statements, as described below. The actuzl impscts of adopting the
standard on | January 2019 may change because:

® The Group has not finalised the testing and assessment of controls over its systems to capture and record ali data in line with
the standard requirements

® The new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first financial statements that include the date of
initial application.

IFRS 16 introduces = single, on balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises & right-ofiuse asset

representing its rights to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligetion to make lease payments, There are

recognilion exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current

standard - i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

Leases in which the Group is a lessee

The Group will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases for club and office property and equipment. The nature
of expenses related to those leases will now change because the Group will recognise a depreciation charge for the right-ofuse
assets and interest expense on lease Habilities.

Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and recognised assets
and liabilitics only to the extent that there was a timing difference between actual lease payments and the expense recognised.

En addition, the Group will no longer recognise provisions for operating leases that i1 assesses to be onerous. Instead, the Group
will include the payments due under the lease in its lease liability,

Adoption of the standard will not impact the Group's ability to comply with its banking facility covenants.

Leases in which the Group is a lessor

The Group will reassess the classification of sub-leases in which the Group is a Jessor. Based on the information currently available,
the Group cxpects that there will be no change to the carrying value of receivables relating to sub leases on adoption of the standard,
However, lhe carrying value of the receivable will be reclassified from provisions to finance lease receivable.

Transition

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initiatly on 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore, the cumulative
effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment fo the opening balance of retained earnings at | January 2019 with
no restatement of comparative information.
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2 Accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 1, management is required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions arc bascd on historical experience and other factors that are considered 1o be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimales. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements

Capitalisation of development cosis

Capitalisation of development costs relates to capitalisation of costs used for the development of sofiware not yet ready for use
ecross some of the subsidiaries of the Group. The Group exercises judgement regarding the appropriateness of capitalisation of
development costs based upon the Group’s ability to meet the recognition criteria prescribed by TFRS, Owing to the inherent
uncertainly of forecasting future cash flows within an entity with no contracted fature revenue, the uttimate valuation of the
resulting intangible asscts is subject to material uncertainty in the financial statements.

Estimates

The following are the critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty, apart from those that the management has made
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the mos! significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

Revenue recognition in long-term contracis

Long term contract accounting requires the Group, at the outset of the contract, to make an estimate of total expected costs, which
then drives revenue recognition over time. Currently the Group is only operating with one such contract, whereby the Group
regularly assesses actual costs to date against budgeted costs. As a1 year end, no significant variations from the original budget
have been identified, and the Group continues to expect that the contract will remain profitable. However, given the length of time
over which long-term contracts span, where markets are susceptible to change following national ¢lections which may give rise to
new laws and regulations, this is considered to be a significant estimate to the Group.

Inpairment of trade and other receivables

The group allocates its exposure {o credit risk based on data determined to be predictive of the risk of loss and applying experienced
credit judgment. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default
and are aligned to the external sources. A provision is made for alt ECLs and assessed regularly based upon changes to the risk of
defaull. Refer to note 26 for further detail regarding impairments recognised during the year.
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3 Revenue

Sale of goods
Provision of services

Total revenue

Revenue by geographical location is as follows:

Asia

North America
South America
Europe

Central America
Africa

Total revenue

Contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with customers.

Trade receivables from customers (see note 17)
Contract assets {(accrued income) (see note 17)

Contract liabilities (deferred income) (ses note 23)

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910

2018
US5000

104,177
15,050

119,227

2018
US$000
43,286
13,830
20,378
18,898
2,835

119,227

2018
US$000
34,580
7,210
6,589

31 December 2018

2017
USs$000

13,640
77419

90,459

2017
US$000
6,191

55,151
21,601

7.216

90,459

2017
US3$000
4,608
13,319
691

Contract assets represent revenue recogaised but not yet invoiced. All contract assets as of 31 December 2017 (US$13,319,000)
were invoiced during the year ended 31 December 2018. The same is expected to be true for all contract assets at the year ended

31 December 2018.

Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to customers, for which the Group has already
received consideration from the customer, All of the contraci liability balance as of 31 December 2017 (US$691,000) has been
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2018. The same is expected to be true for all contract liabilities at the

year ended 3] December 2018,
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4  Other income and expenses

2018 2017
Ussooo US$000
Other income 563 3,832

In 2018 significant items within other income includes the sale of office equipment and fumiture for US$219,000 and other non-
significant ilems. In 2017 significant items relate to paymenis received for the settlement of a US legal claim (81,596,000, the sale
of office equipment and balteries (US$670,000) and a refand of tax payable (US$401,000).

2018 2017
US35000 USS000
Other expenses 9,987 2,698

In 2018 significant iterns within other expenses relate to the impairment of amounts due from related parties of $5,198,000 (refer
to note 29), additiona! tax penalties and permits of US$1,402,000 and a write off of advances and deferred charges of US$744,000.
In 2017 significant items within other expenses relates to prior year advances agreed not to be reimbursed for US$2,000,000.

5 Expenses and auditor’s remuneration

Included in operating profit are the following (credits)/expenses:

2018 2017 -
Ussoon US$000
Loss on disposal of intangible assets 1,644 -
Impairment of PPE (see note 10) - 657
Impairment reversal of irade receivables (see note 26) ’ (222) (1)
Impairment of trade receivables (3ce note 26) 1,711 3,710
Depreciation expense (see note 10) 635 877
Amortisation expense (see note 11) 1,348 T3
Pre-contract costs amortisation expense (see note 17) 314 314
QOperating lease expense (see note 27) 1,389 2,295
Research and development expenditure 2,133 94|
Gain on disposal of jeint venture (sce note 13) 5,248 -
Impairment of amounts due from related parlies (see note 29) 5,198 -
Auditor's remuneration:
2018 2017
US$000 US$000
Audit of these financial statements 21 20
Amounts recelvable by the company's auditor and its associaies in respect of:
Audit of financiaf statements of subsidiaries of the company 577 696
Tax advisory and compliance services 3s2 864

Tn addition to the audit fees payable to KPMG LLP and it associates, certain Group subsidiaries are audited by other firms. Fees
payable to those firms amounts to US$76,250 (2017: US$54,000).
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¢ Staff numbers and costs

31 December 2018

The average number of persons employed by the group (including directors) during the year, analysed by category,

was as follows:

Number of employees
2018 2017
Number of employees 403 448
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
US5000 usio00
Wages end salaries 24,650 22,702
Share based payments (See note 22) - 355
Social security costs 3,342 3179
Contributions to defined contribution plans 108 131
28,160 26,367
7  Directors’ remuneration
2018 2017
$000 000
Remunetation paid to or receivable by directors in respect of qualifying services 634 2,629
634 2,629

The total remuneration and amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid director was

US$430,000 (2017: U/S$1,862,006). One of the directors was not paid for his services to the group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 TFinance income and expense

Finance income
Taterest income
Gain on monetary position

Total finance income

Finance expense
Interest expense
Loss on monstary position

Total finance expense

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910

2018
Usyooo

320
1,009

1,329

2018
1185000

583
200

743

—_—

31 December 2018

2017
US5000

345
1,315

1,660

2017
US3000

492

492

The Group has entities domiciled in the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, which is classified as a hyperinflationary economy.
The functional currericy of these entities was the Bolivar, up to 31 March 2018 - from | April 2019 the functional curtency of
these entities changed to USD, and with this currency being exposed to a hyperinflationary economy, it generates gains/losses for
exposure to inflation, which has been classified as financizl income or expense (monetary position).
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9 Taxation
Recognised in the income statement
2018 2017
US3000 US5000
Current tax expense
Current year lax charge (1,958) {1,035)
Adjustments for prior years (160) 130
Current tax expense (2,118) (905)
Deferved tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,022) 438
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 507 14
Rate Change (10) 596
Deferred tax (expense)/credit (3,525) 1,048
Total tax (expenseleredit ' (5,643) 143
Reconciliation of effective tax rate :
2018 2017
US$000 Us3000
Loss before tax (5,411) (52,221)
Income tax {credit)/expense calculated al 19.00% (2017:19.25%; (1,028) (10,053)
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 409 1,304
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 2,779 353
Effect of tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 2,740 2,667
Timing differences not recognised for deferred tax purposes 838 B4
Effect of different exchange rates translation on subsidiaries 295 6,260
Effect of prior year adjustments 57 (147)
Unrecognised deferred tax now recognised (507 (15)
Effect of changes in tax rates 10 (596)
Total tax expense/(credit) 5,643 (143)

The tax rate used for the 2018 reconciliation above is the corporate tax rate of 19% payable by corporate entities in the UK on
taxable profits under tax law in that jurisdiction, The 2017 reconciliation is based on the corporate tax rate of 19.25%,

3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

10 Property, plant and eqtipment

Cost

Balance st 31 December 2016

Additions

Effect of movements in foreign exchange
Balance at 31 December 2017

Balanec ot 31 December 2017

Additions

Disposals

Reclassification to expenses

Effect of in foreign exchang

Balance at 31 December 2018

Depreciation and impalrment
Balance st 31 December 2016

Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment

Effect of movements ia foreign exchanges
Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 31 December 2617
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

i i
Effect of movements in foreign exchange
Balance at 31 December 2018

Net book value
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2018

Commercial office mnlts
and improvements
ussooe

9,174

9,174

9,174
157

5,331

(1,868)
(306)

@i

@.174)
{307)

{2.481)

7.000
6,350

Equipment
USs000

4,562
13
169
4744

4,744
33
(2381)

(48)
2348

(3,143)
(224)
(49%5)

372

(3,490)

(3,490}
(201)
720

82';
@0

1,254
204

Leasehold
Tmprevements
USE000

1,068

25
1,218
4311

4,311
199
{1,236}

(5275
2,647

(2.159)

(104)
(1.229)
(3.492)

(3.492)
(101}
1236

628
(1,729)

B1%
918

Vehicles
USS000

486

752
1,238

1,238
(6813

(386;
171

(326)
175

(598
(1,097)

(1097
2

947
(1)

14}

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

Furniture and
fixtures
USso00

951

as53
1,3t4

1,314
(6}
(524)
784

(887)
(70}
(162)
(188}
(1,307

1.307)
(5}
364

164
(784)

Under
copstruction
USS000

232

255

255

(234)
1)

255

Commercial office imits with 2 carrying amounr of approximately USS 6,750,000 have besn pledged 10 secure borrowings of the Group under 2 mortgage up to USS 8,639,000, The

Group is not allowed to pledge these 23sets as security for other borrowings or to sell them to another entity.

34

Total
USS$000

18274
270
2,492
21,036

21,036
339
(4.304)
(254)
(1.586)
15,281

(8,383)
(&7
{&57)

{1,643)

(11.560)

(21,560)
(635)
2,320

2,566
7,309

9,476
7,972
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11 Intangible assets

Patents and

trade- marks Software Total
USsooeo LS$0600 USs000

Cost
Balance at | January 2617 5,891 2,753 8,644
Additions 1,406 2,125 3,531
Balance at 31 December 2017 7,297 4,878 12,175
Balance at 31 December 2017 7,297 4878 12,175
Additions - 5,444 5,444
Disposals (1,581) (26) (1,607)
Balance at 31 Decembex 2018 5,716 10,296 16,012
Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2017 (2,800} - (2,800)
Amortisation for the year (713) - 713
Balance at 31 December 2017 (3,573) - (3,573)
Balance at 31 December 2017 (3,573) - (3,573)
Amortisation for the year (1,348) - (1,348)
Disposals 54 - 54
Balance at 31 December 2018 (4,867} - (4,867)
Net book value
Balance at 3§ December 2017 3,724 4,878 8,602
At 31 December 2018 849 10,296 11,145

The amortisation charge is recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement,

Buring 2014, the Group entered into an agreement for the purchase of intellectual property relating to a lottery ticket scanner at a
cost of US$2,000,000. Amortisation of the intellectual property commenced in October 2015 when it was available for use,

In 2016 the Group chose to revise its accounting policy in respect to the capifalization of intangibles to better reflect the business
results and strategy. This resulted in costs which had been expensed, which related to the development of new platforms and
products, being capitalised. As at 31 December 2018 $10,296,000 (20/7: $4,878,000) of development costs have been capitalised.
These items are not yet use and so no amortisation charge has been incurred.
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12 Other financial assels

2018 2017
MNon-current US$000 US$000
Available for sale financial assets 5,007 4,903

The non-current available for sale financiai asscts held during the year by the Group was Infuser ApS.

Infiser ApS

On 7 April 2014, the Group acquired 33% of the share capital of Infuser ApS (“Infuser”), a lcgal entity registered in Denmark.
While the Group holds 33% of the Company's share capital, it does not participate in the Company’s financial and operating policy
decisions, does ot control or have joint control in any capacity. In 2017, the group increased the value of its investinent in Infuser.
This was matched by the other shareholders and so the value of the Group's share of Infuser remained at 33%. In 2018 the Group
further increased the value of its investment to 35.38%. On this basis the Group hes deemed it does not hold significant influence
and therefore accounted for this investment as an available for sale financial investment (this has been classified as a level 2
financial instrurnent as per nole 26).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

13 Investments in subsidlaries controlled entltles

The Group has the following investments in subsidiaries, controlled entities;

Group Subsidiary
Smartmatic International Holding
B.V.X

Hisoft Limited *
E-Vole UK Limited **
Airlabs Limited*

Folio Technologies **

E-Vote USA Corporation *

Airlabs B.V (formerly Air B.Y.)
Airlabs Deniark, filial of Air BV
Airlabs Holdings Limited **
Smartmatic UK Limited **

Smartmatic of Haiti, S.A. *

Smartmatic Philippines, Inc.

Smartmatic Belgium SPRL
Smartmatic USA Corporation

Albatross Technologies Corporation

Smartinatic South Africa PTY
Limited*

Integradora Venezolana de Tecnologia
y Automatizacion (INVENTA, C.A.)*

Smartmatic Netherlands B.V.
Smartmatic Australia PTY Litd*

Smartmatic Singapore Pte Ltd

Registered address

Gustav Mahlerplein 25C, 1082 MS
Amsterdam, The Netherfands

Unit 1001, 10/F, Infinitus Plaza, 199
Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
88 Baker Street, London, W1UJ 6TQ,
United Kingdom

88 Baker Street, London, WIU 6TQ,
United Kingdom

38 Baker Street, London, W1U 6TQ,
United Kingdom

Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange
Street, in the City of Witmington,
County of New Castle, Delaware
19801, USA

Gustav Mahlerplein 25C, 1082 MS
Amsterdam, The Netherlands

c/o Citco (Denmark) ApS,
Holbergsgade 14, Denmark

88 Baker Street, London, WU 6T0Q,
United Kingdom

88 Baker Street, London, W1U 6TQ,
United Kingdom

#7, Rue Lechaud, Bourdon, Port au
Prince, Haiti

16th floor, Accralaw Tower, Second
Avenue Comer 30th Street, Crescent
Park West, Bonifacio Global City,
0399 Teguig Metro Manila, Philippines
9% Floor, Rue Beiliar 4/6, 1040
Brussels, Belgium

160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, City of
Dover, County of Kent, Delaware,
USA

Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, 5t.
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11§12
Ground Floor Stadium Building, Lion
Match Office Park, Umgeni Road,

" Durban, South Africa

Centro Banaven {Cubo Negro), Torre
C, Piso 6 Ofic. B-63-01, AvenidaLa
Estancia, Chuao, Caracas 1060-RB
Venezuela 1A

Gustay Mahlerplein 25C, 1082 MS

Amsterdam, The Netherlands

SE 3 L 23, 19-29 Martin Pl, Sydney,
NSW 2000

8 Temasek Boulevard, #42-19, Suntec
Tower Three, Singapare (038988)

Registered
Nomber

4770
8704199
2237951
9722206
8953917
9035601

5797455
60448059
11067981
36736348

160706375
6

Cs82010017
45
083551662
6

4959658

31402

2014/27466
2407
Registro 4°
DTTO CAP
No.25
Tomo 63 A
Cto 2009.

34320515
98 622 894
704

201705304
w

SGOQ Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910

Class of
shares
held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

018

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

47%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

31 December 2018

Owaership

2017

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

[00%

100%

100%

100%

51%

[00%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continved)

13. Investments in subsidiaries controlled entities (continued)

Group Subsidiary

Smartmatic Mexico, 5.A. de C.V.

Smartmatic Ecuador, S.A.

Smartmatic Elecciones de Mexico
S.A.de CV.

SC Centre of Excetlence for Internst
Voting OU

HS Software Corporation®

Smartmatic Latam Corporation

Smartmatic Panama, S, A,

HiSoft Panama, S.A.

Tecnologia Smartmatic de Venezuela,
C.A.

Smartmatic Labs, C.A.”*
Smartmatic Services Corporation
Smartmatic International Corporation

Smartmatic Taiwan Corporation

1920 Business Inc.

Smertmatic TIM Corporation

SMMT-TIM 2016 Inc

Smarimatic Elections UK Limited

Smartmatic Brazil LTDA

Registered address

Berma No, 6, Piso 6, Colonia Juatez,
Delegacion Cuavhtemoc, Distrito
Federal, CP 06600

Coop Union y Progreso Mz B, Numera
3, Guayagquil, Ecuador.

Berna No. &, Piso 6, Colonia Juarez,
Delegacion Cuauhtemoc, Distrito
Federal, CP 06600

Ulikool tn 2, Tartu city, Tarty County,
51003, Estonia

Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St.
Michael, Barbados, W.L. BB 1112
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St.
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112
Totre de las Americas, Torre A, Piso
19, calles Punta Darien y Punta
Coronado, Urb, Punta Pacifica, Distrito
Panama, Republica de Panama.

Torre de 1as Americas, Torre A, Piso
[9, calles Punia Darien y Punta
Coronado, Urb. Punta Pacifica, Distrito
Panama, Republica de Panama

Centro Banaven (Cubo Negro), Torre
C, Piso 6 Ofic. B-63-01, Avenida La
Estancia, Chuao, Caracas 1060-RB
Venezuela 1A

Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St.
Michael, Barbados, W.1. BB 1112
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St.
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St.
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112
7F.,No.276, Jianguo R4, Sindian City,
Taipei County, Taiwan (R.0.C.)

E6th floor, Accralaw Tower, Second
Avenue Comner 3(th Street, Crescent
Park West, Bonifacio Global City,
0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines
l6th foor, Accralaw Tower, Second
Avenue Corner 30th Street, Crescent
Park West, Bonifacio Global City,
0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines
Avenue Comer 30™ Street. Crescent
Park West, Bonifacic Global City,
0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines
88 Baker Street, London, W1U 6TQ,
United Kingdom

Av. Dr Guilherme Dumon Villares
1410, ¢j 101, Sao Paoclo, Brazil

Registered
Number

415220

06-G-1J-
0003588
U74900DL
2010PTC20
4111

12679959
41933

36714

750640

750640

Regisiro 4°
OTTO CAP
No.25
Torno 63 A
Cto 2009,

25239
24285

29152146
C82009123
59

CS2009164
29

CS52015160
97

12679959

08704199

093506377
00061-06

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

Class of
shares Ownership
held

2018 2017

Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 106%
Ordinary 60% 60%
Ordinary 60% 60%
Ordinary 160% 100%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 106%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% HI0%
Ordinary 100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 90%
Ordinary 40% 40%
Ordinary 40% 40%
Ordinary  100% 100%
Ordinary 100% 100%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

13. Investments In subsidiaries controlled entities (corntinned)

*The subsidiaries of SGO Corporation Limited, below, all of which are domiciled and registered in the UK, are exempt from the
audit of their individual accounts (Section 479a of the Compenies Act 2006) due to the existence of a parental guarantee given by
this parent undertaking of this group which prepares these consclidated accounts.

* These entities are all 100% directly owned by SGO Corporation Limited. All olher investments are indirect.
*These entities represent all dormant entities.

During the year the Group reduced its participating interest in Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas de Trasporte
Piblico. The Group now holds a 50% interest in the entity, and as such, the entity is treated as a joint venture in the financial
statements.

Effect of gain on change in participating interest

2018
USS000

Proceeds -
Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 1,134
Intangible assets 27
Trade and other receivables 837
Trade and other creditors (7,246}
Net liabilities disposed of (5,248)
Total gain on change in particlpating interest 5,245

14. Investments in joint ventures

As per note 13, during 20[8 the Group reduced its participating interest in Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas
de Trasporte Plblico. The Group now holds a 50% interest in the entity, and a3 such, the entity is treated as a joint venture in the
financial stetements,

2018

Uss000

Carrying amount of joint venature -
2018

Percentage ownership interest 50%
Us$000

Non-cwrrent assets 1,873
Current assets 995
Non-current liabilities (7,505)
Current lighilities (695)

Net lizhilities (100%) (5,332)

39




SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
14, Investments in joint ventures feontinued)

Group’s share of net liabilities
Carrying amount of Interest in joint venture

Revenue

Costs and Operating Expenses
Interest income

Other income

Profit from continuing operations

Group’s share of profit

(2,666)

2,008
{2,523
400
155

40

20

L

The Group’s share of the profit from the joint venture has not been recognised in the Income Statement as the joint venture still

has overal] net liabilities,

15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 2018
US$000
Intra-greup profit 1)
Provisions 61
Property, plant and equipment 21
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 3
Other assets/(liabilities) 393
Tax losses 76
Deferred tax assets 582

2018

USS000

Total deferred (ax assets 583

Total deferred tax liabilities [¢)]

Net deferred lax assets 582

2017
US$000

5371
20

14
(2,188)
{(62)
1,030

4,185

2017
US$000
6,435
(2,250)

4,185
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

15 Deferred tax assets and liabllities (continned)
Movement in deferred tax during the year

1 January Translation

SGO Corporation Limiled
Registration number (7477910
31 December 2018

Recognised 31 December

2018 differences Rate Change in year 2018

US$000 US3000 USss000 US$000 USS000

Provisions 20 ' - 6) 47 61

Property, plant and equipment 14 - (2) 9 21

Intra-group profit 5,371 - (5.372) 1)
Temporary differences:

Tax losses 1,030 (13) 1 (952) 76
Deferred tax liabilities:

Other liabilities (62) (38) (15) 508 393

Unrealised foreign exchange gains (2,188) (28) - 2,248 32

Net deferred tax balance 4,185 79 (12) (3,512) 582

Unrecognised deferred temporary differences

Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax nssets have been recognized

are attributable to the following:

Charitable donations
Tax losses

Deferred tax assets

2018
US%000

1%0
61,748

61,938

2017
Us5000

1,151
53,464

54,615

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each closing date and reduced 1o the extent that it is not likely that the
Group would generate sufficient future tax gains to totally or partialty. There was a reduction in the tax rate from 20% to 19%

(effective from | April 2017) and to 17% (effective 1 April 2020} were substantively enacted on 6 September 2016.

The Group does rot recognise any deferred 1ax liability on temporary differences relating to potentially taxable unremitted carnings
of overseas subsidiaries totalling US$10,000,000 because it is able to control the timing of reversal of these differences, It is

probable that no reversal will take place in the foreseeable future,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

16 Inventories

2018 2017

US$000 US$000

Raw materials and consumabies 399 3284
Finished goods, net 2,419 1,801
2,818 2,185

Management estimates that inventories will be realised or utilised in short-term. There are no significant differences between the
resaje or fair valuc and the carrying value of stocks. There were no write offs or write dowas of stocks in current peried (2017:
USS nil), The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing operations was US$353m
(2017: US$40m).

17 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

USS000 Us$000

Trade receivables 34,580 4,608
Amounts due from parent 462 47
Other receivables 2,106 4,625
Advence to vendors 2,143 3,511
Prepayments 11,776 409
Accrued income 7,210 13,319
Guarantes depesits 363 331
Pre-contract costs 2,179 2,493
Other taxes receivable 8,712 13,830
69,531 43,173

Non-current 5,186 5,080
Current 64,345 38,093

Advance to vendors

The Group grants advances (o its suppliers to scquire goods and services during the course of business. As of 3§ December 2018,
the Group has granted advances for 1JS$2,143,000 (2017: US$3,511,000) for the purchase of electoral machines, untime
licenses, digital pens, logistics services and others.

Employee loans

The Group entered into varicus employment agreements with certain key employzes to provide an incentive to relocate them
from Venczucla Lo Panama and continue employment reiationship with the Group. The employment agreements provide certain
benefits to the employees if certain contingencies are met, including continued employment in the Group for at least three
consecutive years from the time the employment contract is signed. As of 3[ December 2018, the Group maintains non-interest
bearing loans receivable from employees for approximately US$310,000 {2087: US$10,000).

Other taxes receivable

Certain of the Group’s operations are subject to Value-Added Tax {(VAT) and withholding tax. Menagement considers that the
current amounts receivable in respect to VAT and withholding tax are fully recoverable from tax authorities. As of 31 December
2018, both the VAT and withholding tax are mainly gencrated by operations in Venezuela and the Philippines.

Pre-coniract cosis

Pre-contract ¢osts are Tepresented by costs incurred by the Group in order to secure & coniract to provide electoral services in
Belgium. Pre-contract costs ere amortised over the contract term. During 2017 and 2018 s total of $314,000 was amortised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continved)

18 Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

USs$000 US$000

Cash and cash equivalents 66.6b9 70,360
Restricted cash 5,491 30
Total cash and cash equivalents 72,100 70,390

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, restricted cash is represented by deposits held in financial institutions for the purpose of
guaranteeing certain projects in progress, bid processes and focal employee related obligations in certain jurisdictions.

19 Assets available for sale

2018 2017
USs5000 USS000

Assets classified as held for sale
Inventory - 17,605

Assets held for sale includes equipment for which there was an option to sell in relation to the COMELEC contract. This sale
completed in 2018.

20 Other loans and berrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interesi-bearing loans and borrowings, which are
measured at amortised cost. Refer to note 26 for more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency
risk.

2018 2017
USS000 USs$000
Non-current Habilities
Sccured bank loans 541 1,222
Current labllities
Current portion of secured bank loans 870 7,685

i
i
i
i
!
!
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

20. Other loans and borrowlngs {continved)

Terms and debi repayment schedule

SGQO Corporation Limited

Registration number 07477310
31 December 2018

Nominal Year of Face value Carrying Carrying

Currency Interest rate maturity amount Face value anmount

2018 2018 2017 2017

ussooe US$o000 US$000 Ussooo

Banisimo loan USs LIBOR +4 2020 95 695 1,136 1,136
Banistmo loan US$ LIBOR+4 2021 519 519 759 759
European EUR NA 2019 197 197 - -

Commission
Banco del Tesoro VEB 24% 2019 - - 2 12
Santander UK Plc USss LIBOR+ 2018 - - - 7,000 7,000
127%
1,411 1,411 8,907 8,907

The loans are secured by pledged over commercial office units with a carrying amount of approximately US$ 6,750,000.

Santander UK Ple is a revolving credit facility for US$15,000,000. As of 31 December 2018 the total drawdown is USS nil.

Barclays Plc is & revolving credit facility to US$15,000,000. As of 31 December 2018, the total draw down amounts to US$ nil.

21, Trade and other payables

Current

Trade and other payables
Amount due 1o parent
Employee benefits

Social security and other taxes
Accrued expenses

Advance from vendor

2018 2017
US5000 US$000
10,472 5,526
- 128

4,094 4,072
4,905 2,842
14,867 6,590
6,000 -
40,338 19,158

———— s
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
22, Employee benefits

Share-based payments

On 26 May 2008 and effective since 1 January 2008, the company and group’s ultimate parent, SGO Corporation S.A. entered into
an agreemest with its subsidiaries through its 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (“the Plan™) to grant shares and Restricted Stock Units
(“RSUs™) to employees of Group 2nd its subsidiaries. The Plan provides for the RSU’s to commence on the date pranted and arc
subject to empioyment, contract and other restrictions considered appropriate by the Group’s management. The purpose of the Plan
is to advance the interests of the Group by allowing the Group lo aitract, retain, reward and motivate eligible individuals by
providing them with an opportunity to participate in the Plan and incentives to expend maximum effort for the growth and success
of the Group. Each employee share option converls into one ordinary share of the Group on exercise. No amounts are paid or
payable by the recipient an receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voling rights. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry. The total number of RSU’s pranted and vested by the
Group is as follows:

Method of
settlement Number of Contractual life of  Fair value at
Grant date accounting instruments  Vesting conditions options grant date
| September 2015 Equity 113,931 Partial vesting by year (30%, I September 2018 1.05
30% & 40%)
25 February 2017 Equity 446,373 100% vested at grant date 25 February 2017 1.05
31 December 2017 Equity 4,750,000 100% vested at grant date 31 December 2017 1.05
31 December 2018 Equity 332,724 100% vested at grant date 31 December 2018 1.05
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:
Weighted Number Weighted Number
avernpe of options average of options
exerelse price exercise price
2018 2018 2017 2017
Outstanding &t the beginning of the year - 0.01 4,459,905 0.0t 4,792,629
Expired during the year (0.01) (4,459,905) - -
Granted during the year - - 0.01 332,724
Quistanding at the end of the year - - 0.01 4,459,905
Exercisable at the end of the year - - 0.01 4,459,905

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options exercised during the year was US$0.01 (2077; US$0.01).
The options cutstanding at the year-end have an exercis¢ price of $0.01 and a weighted average contractual lifc of 3 years.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
22. Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (confimeed)

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference (o the fair value of share options
granted. The fair value of employee share options is measured by reference o the fair value of the issued share capital of SGO
Corporation 8,A. The fair of SGO Corporation $,A."s share capital has been determined using an income based discounted cash
flow analysis, together with a market based enterprise value multiple approach. Both are well established and recognised valuation
methodologies.

Measurcment inputs and assumptions are as follows:

2018 2017
Fair value at grant date 1.05 1.05
Exercise price Nil Nil
Expeeted volatility * *
Expected dividends Nit Nil
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% 1.9%

* The impact of expected volatility is incorporated into the discounted cash flow analysis used in detennining the fair value of the
SGO Corporation S.A. share capital.

Share options are granted under a service condition. Such conditions arc not taken into account in the grant date fair value
measurement of the services received.

The lotal expenses recognised for the year and the total liabilities recognised at the end of the year arising from share-based
payments are as follows:

2018 2017
US53000 US$000
Equity settled share based payment expense - 355

The expense and associated increase in reserves recognised in the year represents the fair value of the services provided to GO
Corporation Limited (and its subsidiaries) by its employees.

23. Deferred revenue

2018 2017
US$000 US$000

Current
Philippines 6,257 -
Rest of the world 332 691
6,589 691

All deferred revenue represents advance billings on contracts where the work hed not been performed at the year end. The
geographical allocation shown here is based on the location where the sales of goods and services will take place.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (cominued)

24. Provisions

Provisions are made in respect of warrantics lor existing revenue cantracts, end are offered for 12 months afier the end of the associated
contract.

2018 2017
USs000 US$000
Balance at | January 2018 3,306 10,980
Provisions made during the year 467 2,731
Provisions reversed during the year (2,559) (10,335)
Balance at 31 Decermmber 2018 1,214 3,306
25. Capltal and reserves
Share capital
2018 2017
US5000 US$000

Allotted, cafled up and fully pald
3 ordinary shares of £1 each - -

Reserves

Translation reserve: The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Company's ner investment in a foreign
subsidiary.

Share based payment reserve: The equity-settled employee benefits reserve comprises the equity component of the Company's share based
payment charges.

26, Finanecial Instraments
26 (a) Fair values of financial instruments

Level | fair value measurements have been determined by reference to quoted prices {unadjusted) in ective markets for identical assets or
liabilities. Level 2 fair value measurements have been determined by reference to observable data in quoted markets at the balance sheet
dates.

The fair values of ali financial essets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are
as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value  Carrylng amount Fair value
2018 2018 2017 2017
US3000 Ussoop USS$000 US$000
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (note L8) 72,100 72,160 70,390 70,390
Trade and other receivables (note 17) 69,531 69,531 43,173 43,173
Available for sale investments
Other financial asscts (notc 12) — Level 2 5,007 5,007 ’ 4,903 4,903
Total financial assets 146,638 146,638 118,466 118,46
Financial Habillties measured at amortised cost
Other foans and borrowings (note 20) 1,411 1,411 8,907 8,907
Trade and other payables (note 21) 40,338 40,338 19,158 19,158
Income tax payable 2,498 2,498 972 912
Provisions (note 24) 1,214 1,214 3,306 3,306
Total financial liabiltles 45,461 45,461 32,343 32,343
Total financial Instroments 101,177 101,177 86,123 86,123
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

26 (B) Credit risk

Financial risk management

31 December 2018

Credit rigk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contraclual obligations resulting in financial 1oss to the Group. The
Group has adopted 2 policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterpariies and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate,
s a means of miligating the risk of financizl loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent
of investment grade and above, This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available,
the Group uses other publicly available financia) information and its own trading records fo ratc its major customers. The Group's
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuzously monitored and the aggregate value of transactious concluded
is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credil exposure is controlled by counterpasty limits that are reviewed and approved by

management.

Exposure fo credit visk

The concentration of credit rigk for trade receivables at the balance sheet date by geographic region was:

Venezela
Philippines
Brazil

Haiti

Mexico
Argentina
Pakistan

Belgium

UsA

Rest of the World

Credit quality of financial assets and mpairment losses

The aging of trade receivables at the balance sheet date was:

Not past due (0 — 30 days)
Past due 31- 60 days

Past due 61- 90 days
More than 91 days

Gross
2018
US3$000

30,213
3,015
56
5,802

39,096

2018
USsono

15937

180
4,814

3,709
13,708
748

39,096

Se—cm—

lmpairment Gross
2018 2017
USs000 US$000

- 869
- 1,146
- 288
{4,519) 10,835

(4,519) 13,138

2017
Us$000

1,574
5,131
514
1,800
185
1,395
647

1,897

13,138

Emmen

Impairment
2017
US$060

(3,535)

(8,530)
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26 Financial instruments (confinued)
26 (b) Credit risk (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

US5000 US$000

Balance at [ January 8,530 4,890
Impairment loss recognised 1,11 3,710
Impairment loss reversed (222) (70}
Trade receivables written ofF during the year (5,500) -
Balance st 31 December 4,519 8,530

The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful debts at a leve! that is considered by managemeni as in line with the potential
risk of bad debts. Aging of accounts receivable and clients’ conditions are constantly monitored to ensure faimess of the
allowance in the consolidated financial staternents. Consequently, management considers that no further provisions, in excess of
the atlowance for doubtful accounts, are required.

26 (c) Liguidity risk
Financial risk management

Ultimate respongibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has established an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short-, medium- and long-ferm funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and 2ctual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets and liabilities,

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the effect
of netting agreements:

2018 Carrylng  Contractual 1 year 1to 2to 5 years
amount cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over
Ussooo USS000 US$000 Ussooo USs000 US3a00
Non-derivative financial Habllities

Secured bank loaus (note 20) 1,411 1,411 54% 870 -
Trade and other payables (note 21) 40,318 40,338 40,338 - -
Provisions (note 24) 1,214 1,214 1,214 - -
42,963 42,093 870 -
2017 Carrying  Contractual 1 year lto 2te ¢+ 5§ years
amournt cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over
US$000 US$000 US$000 ussoo US$000 US$000
Non-derivative financiat liabilities
Secured bank loans (note 20} 8,907 8,907 7,685 673 549
Trade and other payables (note 21) 19,158 9,158 9,158 - -
Provisions (note 24) 3,306 3,306 3,306 - -
21,371 20,149 673 549
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

26 (d) Market risk

Financial visk management

SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 Dacember 2018

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.
Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the Group's exposure to markel risks
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured. The Group is dependent on renewing existing contracts and obtaining

new contracts.

Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabitities at the end of the

reporting period arc as follows:

Venczueian Bolivars
Philippine Pesos
Euros

Mexican Pesos
Sterling Pound
Colombian Pesos
Taiwanese Dollars
Hong Kong Dollars
Rupees

Brazilian Reais
Haitian Gourdes
Pesos Argentinos

Dirham de los Emiratos Arabes Unidos

Singapore dollars
Pakistani Rupee
Danish Kroner
Australian Dollars

Bolivars

Sensitivity analysis

Liabilities
2018 2017

927,119  71,105,031,713

594,678,360 652,547,834
8,321,103 9,731,114
2,544,827 6,353,938
5,962,926 8,025,796

4,798,511,749  12,117,709,076

12,632,325 8,506,849
- 45,000

- 664,768

147,973 111,443
1,002,760 52,641,666
678,951 10,939,699

- 323,059

107,950 102,78¢
38,951,909 48,525,895
473,028 -
3,741 -
12,075‘ -

Assets
2018 2017

91,919  61,913,007,177

2,193,127,518 1,660,696,045
7,005,603 24,381,970
5,324,521 17,266,163
7,948,698 12,421,487

19,157,401,480 (2,521,747,108

22,752,218 46,535,636
- 24,814

- 15,229,490

767.371 1,457499
12,631,865 14,884,281
12,328,071 15,554,332
- 161,032
2,143,949 10,178
63,856,554 78,160,254
58,531 -
386 -
50,810 -

‘The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of Venezuela, Mexico, Colombia and Philippines.

The foltowing table details the Group®s sensitivity to increase and decrease in the dollar of the United States of America against
the relevant foreign currencies, 1% is the sensitivity rates determined by key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the monetary
assets and monetary liabilities foreign curency denominated, mentioned previously. A positive number below indicates an

50



SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

INotes to the consolidated financial statements (continved)

26 Financial instruments {contirued)

increase in profit or equity where in the dollar of the United States of America, there would be a comparsble impact oa the profit
or equity, and the balances below would be negative.

26 (d) Market risk (continued)

2018 2017
Impact Impactin % of change Impact Impact in % of change
original US$  inexchange original US§  in exchange
currency rate currency rate
Sterling Pound
(2,528,104)  {2,907,319) (4.99%) (6,033,250} {8,225,130) (27%)
Rupees
- - - 302,319 4,456 6,685%
Taiwanese dollars
G10,171) 9,091) 6.58%  (1,233,535) (3B 484) 3,105%
Euros
159,794 181,414 (1.27%) 11,043,185 13235257 (17%)
Brazilian Reals
(154,536) (37,630) 3.44%  (378,415) (101,850) 2,72%
Mexican Pesos
(144,866) (7,310} (2.65%4) {561,489 (27,513) 1,941%
Philippine Pesos
16,668,317 221,049 (13.75%) 45,254,640 769,860 5778%
Colombian Pesos
7,615,524 2,292 0.48% 9,286,013 3,230 28,7393%
Hong Kong dollars
. . - 8,741 1,107 690%
Venezuelan Bolivars
- - - 145,845 2 7,292,150%
Haitian Gourdes
{121,406} (1,214) 20.86% 632,240 9,796 6,354%
Argentinian Pesos
(267,161) (5,920) 15.99%  (1,002,892) (33,208) 2,920%
Dirham
- - - 665,170 178,389 273%
Pakistan Rupess 13,207 89 4,88% (243,970) (2,107 1,1479%
Singapore dollars (1,333,816) (770,320) 11.80% 69,735 51,656 35%
Austrelian dollars 2,345 1,620 1.25% - - -
Bolivars (5,548) (797) (0.19%) - - -
Profile

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and variable interest rates. The
Group's exposures to interest rates on financiel assets and financial liebilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section
of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rales for non-derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. A 1.5 basis points increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk intermally to key
mznagement personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates,

If interest rates had been 1.5 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group's:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (convinued)

26 Financlal instruments {continmed)
26 (d) Market risk (continned)

a.  Profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 would decrease by US$ 2,000 (2017: US$ 29,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group 's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings; and

b.  Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018 would decrease in the same amounts for both years,
26 (e) Capital management

a, The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximizing the return to sharcholder through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
sirategy rernains unchanged from 2014, :

b. The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity of the Group.

The Group's directors review the capital structure of the Group on a regular basis. As part of this review, directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with cach c)ass of cepital.

27. Operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2018 2017

US$000 US$000

Less than one year 2,396 1,921
Between one and five years 3,521 989
More than five years - -
5917 2,910

The Group leases a number of warehouse and factory facilities under opersting leases. Land end buildings have been considered
separately for lease classification.

During the year US$1,389,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases
(2017: US$2,295,000).

28. Commitments and contingencies

1n 2016, the Dutch Tax Aullorities raised an assessment of EUR2.5m income tax on Smartmatic International Holdings BV
relating to matters including the remuneration of the company for the year ended 31 December 2012, The group continues to
vigorously object to this assessment and is appealing, Discussions covering the accounting years ended 31 December 2011 to
2016 are ongoing with Dutch tax suthoritics including constructive meetings in the Netherlands during April 2019, The range of
potential outcomes of this matter following further discussions with the Dutch tax suthoritics remains uncertain. The Group does
not consider it appropriate to make provision for these amounts at this stage nor for any potential further amounts which may be
assessed in relation fo these matters in subsequent years,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29. Related parties
Transactions with key management personnel

The compensation of key management personnel {including the directors) is as follows:

2018 2017
USS000 US$000
Key management emoluments 2,108 6,528
2,108 6,528

Other related party transactions

Certain family members of Antonio José Mugica Rivero and Roger Alejandro Pifiate, directors of the company are
employed by the Group, The salary paid to these family merbers is based on an arm’s length basis and amounted to
%865,000 (2017: US$652,000).

Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas de Trasporte Pablico is a joint venture of the Group (see note
14), at the year end there was a receivable due to the Group from the joint veature of $5,198,000 (2017: not a related
party) which has been fully provided for.

30. Ultimate parent company
The ultimate parent company is SGO Corporation S.A., a company incorporeted in Luxembourg.

The largest group into which the company’s results are consolidated is that headed by SGO Corporation S.A.. The registered
address of SGO Corporation S.A. is |1 Rue de Glacis, 44 Schottegatweg Oost, [628 Luxembourg, Luxembourg. The smallest group
into which the company’s resylts are consolidated is that headed by SGO Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in the
United Kingdom.

31 Post balance sheet events

As of 27 March 2019, SGO Carporation Limited merged with its nltimate parent company, SGO Corporation S.A. From this date
the two companies will operate as e single entity cailed SGO Corporation Limited.

As of 15 March 2019 there was a redenomination in Ordinary Share Capitei, whereby 109,375,088 shares were revalued from
GBFP0.01 to USD 0.0133.

In February 2019 the Santander credit facility, as per note 20, was extended to $24,000,000.

53



SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
31 December 2018

Company Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2018
Note 2618 - 2018 2017 2017
£0600 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assefs
Tangibie Assets 2 104 172
Tinvestments 3 115,890 109,174
115,994 109,346
Current assets
Debtors 4 4,746 18,604
Cash at bank and in hand 245 514
4,991 19,118
Credltors: amounts falling due within one yesr 5 (14,377) (21,245)
Net current liabilitles (9,386) (2,127)
Total assets less current Habllities 106,608 107,219
Net assets 106,608 107,219
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 6 - -
Share Premitum 68 68
Merger Reserve 80,414 80414
Share based payments reserves 432 432
Profit and loss account 25,694 26,305
Shareholder’s funds 106,608 107,219

The notes on pages 56 to 59 form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on {L June 2019 and were signed on its behalf
by: ‘

Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero
Director
Company registered number: 07477910
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Jor year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at ] Janvary 2017

Profit for the year

$GO Corporation Limited

Balance at 31 December 2047

Loss for the year

Batance at 31 December 2018

Registration mumber 07477910
31 December 2018
Called np Share Preminm Merger reserve  Bhare based Profitand  Sharcholder’s
Share account premium loss account funds
capital reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £DD0 £000
- 68 80,414 432 26,171 107,085
- - - - 134 134
- 68 80,414 432 26305 107,219
- - - - (611) {611)
- 68 80,414 431 25,694 106,608

The notes on pages 56 to 39 form part of these financial statement
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1 Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation
ta the financial statements, except as noted below.

Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Rediced Disclosure
Framework {“FRS 101 ). The amendments to FRS 101 {2014/15 Cycle) issued in July 201 5 have been applied.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:
*  (Comparative year reconciliation for share capital
¢ A cash flow statement and related notes
*  Disclosures in respect of wholly owned subsidiaries
¢ Disclosures in respect of capital management
s The cffects of new but not yet effective IFRSs
s Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of SGO Corporation Limited inchude the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also
taken the exemptions under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:

®  IFRS 2 “Share-based payment” in respect of Group-settled Share-based payment
*  Certain disclosures required by 1A 36 Impairment of Assets in respect of the impairment of investments

*  Certain disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business Combinations in respect of business combinations underteken by the
company in the current and prior years

*  Certzin disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by TFRS 7 “Financial
Tnstruments Disclosures.”
The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 101 in its next financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial statements.

A separate profit and loss account or statement of total recognised gains and losses desling with the results of the Company only
has not been presented as permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act.

Tangible Assels
Tangible fixed assets are staled at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different uscful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
propexrty, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is charged 1o the income statement cn a straight-line basis aver the estimated useful lives al] tangible assets. Land is
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Ieasehold improvements Up to life of lease
Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures are stated at cost less amounts wrilten off.
Taxation

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences
between the ireatment of cerlain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance shect date, except as otherwise required by
FRS I9.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
Cash and liguid resanrces
Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demend, less overdrafts payable on demand.

Liquid resources arc current asset investinents which are disposable without curtailing or disrupling the business and are either
readily convertible into known amounts of cash at or close to their carrying values or traded in rn active market. Liquid resources
comprise term deposits of less than one year (other than cash).

2 Tangible fixed assets

Leasehold Furniture & Assets under . Total
Improvements Flxtures construction
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 Janvary 2017 257 50 - 307
Additions - - 170 170
Al 31 December 2017 257 50 170 477
At 1 January 2018 257 50 170 477
Additions 149 - - 149
Reclassification to expenses - - (170) {170)
At 31 December 2018 406 50 - 456
Depreciation
At [ January 2017 (233) (50) - (283)
Charge for the year (22) - - (22)
At 31 December 2017 (255) (50) - (365)
At T January 2018 (255) (50) - (305)
Charge for year (47 - - 7"
At 31 December 2018 (302) (50) - (352)
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 104 - - 104
At 31 December 2017 2 - 170 172

57



SGO Corporation Limited
Registration number 07477910
3} December 2018

Notes to the Company financial statements (confinved)

3 Fixed asset investients
Shares in
group
undertakings
£000
Cost and Net bogk value
At 31 December 2018 £15,890
At 31 December 2017 109,174
The entities subsidiaries are listed in the Group accounts see page 37-39.
The above value contains en impairment for £1.6m of the investment in Smartmatic UK Limited.
4 Debtors
2018 2017
£000 £000
Prepyments 51 34
Amounts owed by group underiakings 4,291 18,248
Advance to vendors - 12
Other debiors 404 310
4,746 18,604
All intercompany balances are repayable on demand, with no interest charge.
5 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2018 2017
£000 £000
Trade creditors 353 98
Amounts owed to group undertakings 13,578 15,602
Other creditors 58 5,252
Accruals 388 293
14,377 21,245

All intercompany balances are repayable on demand, with no interest charge.
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Notes to the Company financial statements {continued)

6 Called up share capital

2018 2017

£000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
3 Ordinary shares of £1 each
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